
 

 

**PERSONAL AUDIO ENHANCERS ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE COUNCIL 

SECRETARY** 

AGENDA FOR REGULAR ELKHART CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

LOCATION:  CITY HALL, 2ND FLOOR, COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

December 5, 2022 

7:00 P.M. 

 

1.   Call to Order, Pledge, Moment of Silent Meditation, Roll Call 

 

2.  Minutes for Approval         

 Minutes of October 17, 2022 – Council 

 Minutes of November 7, 2022 - Council 

 

 Presentations and Introductions 

 

3.  Unfinished Business 

 

a) Reports of Council Committees  

      

b) Ordinances on Second-Third Reading      

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 21-O-49, an ordinance appropriating Three 

Hundred Twenty-Two Thousand Three Hundred and Fifty Dollars 

($322,350.00) from the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund to the 

Negative Economic Impact Account for the Elkhart Thrive Neighborhood 

Opportunity Hub Initiative 

 

c) Ordinances and Resolutions Referred to Committees 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-37, an ordinance adopting a schedule of salaries and 

other compensation for the police officers of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, for the calendar 

year 2023 

 

d) Tabled Ordinances and Resolutions      

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-09, an ordinance amending the zoning map created 

pursuant to Ordinance No. 4370, the “Zoning ordinance of the City of Elkhart, Indiana” 

as amended, to rezone 309 Stainless Dive, Elkhart, Indiana by removing the existing 

zoning restriction, which prohibits access to the property from County Road 19 

 

4.       New Business 

 

a) Ordinances on First Reading  

There are no ordinances on first reading 

 

 

 

 

 

 

       



 

 
2 

b) Resolutions   

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-53, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, authorizing the transfer of One Hundred Five 

Thousand Dollars ($105,000.00) from the Building and Grounds Part Time 

Account and assigning the funds to the following Building and Grounds 

Accounts: Forty Thousand Dollars ($40,000.00) to the Repairs and 

Maintenance Account, Thirty Five Thousand Dollars ($35,000.00) to the 

Gasoline Account, Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000.00) to the Building 

Materials Account, and Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00) to the Operating 

Supplies Account 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-54, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, authorizing the transfer of Seventy Five 

Thousand Dollars ($75,000.00) from the Central Garage Full Time Account 

and assigning the funds to the following Central Garage Accounts: Twenty 

One Thousand Dollars ($21,000.00) to the Gasoline Account, Seventeen 

Thousand Dollars ($17,000.00) to the Garage/Motor Supplies Account, Seven 

Thousand Dollars ($7,000.00) to the Repairs & Maintenance Account, Eight 

Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($8,500.00) to the Oil Account, and One 

Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($1,500.00) to the Electricity Account 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-55, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, authorizing the transfer of Five Thousand 

Dollars ($5,000.00) from the Cemetery Department Part Time Account, and 

assigning Three Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($3,500.00) of the funds to 

the Operating Supplies Account and assigning One Thousand Five Hundred 

Dollars ($1,500.00) of the funds to the Gasoline Account 

 

Vacation Hearings          

      There are no vacation hearings 

          

c) Other New Business 

 

d) Reports of Mayor, Board of Works, Board of Safety or City Departments 

 

e) Neighborhood Association Reports 

 

f) Privilege of the Floor 

 

g) Scheduling of Committee Meetings 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
3 

5.       Acceptance of Communications 

 Minutes of January 11, 2022 – Aurora Capital Development Corporation 

 Minutes of February 8, 2022 – Aurora Capital Development Corporation 

 Minutes of March 8, 2022 – Aurora Capital Development Corporation 

 Minutes of April 12, 2022 – Aurora Capital Development Corporation 

 Minutes of May 10, 2022 – Aurora Capital Development Corporation 

 Minutes of August 9, 2022 – Aurora Capital Development Corporation 

 Minutes of September 13, 2022 – Aurora Capital Development Corporation 

 Minutes of October 11, 2022 – Aurora Capital Development Corporation 

 

 Minutes of August 11, 2022 – Board of Zoning Appeals 

 Minutes of October 13, 2022 – Board of Zoning Appeals 

 

 Minutes of August 16, 2022 – Park Board 

 Minutes of August 30, 2022 – Park Board 

 Minutes of September 20, 2022 – Park Board 

 Minutes of October 4, 2022 – Park Board 

 Minutes of October 18, 2022 – Park Board 

 Minutes of November 1, 2022 – Park Board 

 

 Minutes of September 6, 2022 – Plan Commission 

 

 Minutes of January 11, 2022 – Redevelopment Commission 

 Minutes of February 8, 2022 – Redevelopment Commission 

 Minutes of March 8, 2022 – Redevelopment Commission 

 Minutes of April 12, 2022 – Redevelopment Commission 

 Minutes of May 10, 2022 – Redevelopment Commission 

 Minutes of June 14, 2022 – Redevelopment Commission 

 Minutes of July 12, 2022 – Redevelopment Commission 

 Minutes of August 9, 2022 – Redevelopment Commission 

 Minutes of September 13, 2022 – Redevelopment Commission 

 Minutes of October 11, 2022 – Redevelopment Commission 

 

 Minutes of April 21, 2022 – Stormwater Board 

 Minutes of June 16, 2022 – Stormwater Board 

 Minutes of August 18, 2022 – Stormwater Board 

 

7.    Adjournment   



  DRAFT 

   

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COMMON COUNCIL MEETING 

OF OCTOBER 17, 2022 

 

Present: Council President Arvis Dawson 

Council Members Kevin Bullard, Brent Curry, Brian Thomas, Aaron Mishler, Tonda 

Hines, Megan Baughman, Dwight Fish, David Henke 

    

Absent:  

 This meeting was made available to the public electronically through WebEx and live-streamed 

on Facebook. All Council Members were present in Council Chambers.  

 

 President Dawson called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers at City Hall, 

229 S. Second Street, in Elkhart.   

 

 Jamie Arce led the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance. President Dawson asked for a moment 

of silent reflection. 

  

 The clerk called the roll.   

 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

There were no minutes for approval 

 

 

PRESENTATIONS AND INTRODUCTIONS 

 Mayor Roberson introduced Mike Huber who is the new Development Services Director.  He 

was a member of our development services department back in the late 90’s and he then went on to 

work at the Visitors and Convention Bureau.  Currently he is the Director of Development with 

Abonmarche, which is one of our engineering firms.  Mike Huber stated that he is excited to be back 

with the City of Elkhart.  He has spent the last 4 ½ years with Abonmarche.  He got his start to his 

planning career here in Elkhart as the CDBG neighborhood coordinator.  He is excited to get started next 

week.   

 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

AMENDMENT TO THE AGENDA 

 Councilman Mishler spoke to the fact that there were a couple of ordinances that are still listed 

under Ordinances and Resolutions Referred to Committee that need to be moved to second-third 

reading.  His motion was to move 22-O-36 and 22-O-39 to second-third reading.  Seconded by President 

Dawson. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote of 9-0, the motion carries.   

 

 



   

 

2 

 

REPORTS OF COUNCIL COMMITTEES 

There were no reports of council committees 

 

 

 

ORDINANCES ON SECOND-THIRD READING 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-34 

 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE 2023 BUDGET FOR THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 

AND MAKING APPROPRIATIONS FOR DEPARTMENT BUDGETS AND FOR OTHER 

CITY PURPOSES DURING THE CALENDAR YEAR 2023 

 

 President Dawson asked the clerk to read Proposed Ordinance 22-O-34 by title only.  He asked 

for a motion to approve on second reading.  Motion by Councilwoman Hines and seconded by 

Councilman Fish. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-34 

 President Dawson opened the council discussion.  Councilwoman Baughman asked if she 

could make an amendment to this ordinance.  President Dawson replied yes.   

  

 Councilwoman Baughman made an amendment to remove from each department the $1,200 

living in the city stipend that is figured into the personal services line item.  Seconded by Councilman 

Henke. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON THE AMENDMENT TO PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-34 

 President Dawson opened the council discussion on the amendment.  Councilman Henke stated 

that he agrees. It is a blessing and a penalty depending on what side of the fence you are on.  We have 

about 50% of department heads that actually live/reside in the city and if we have to incentivize those 

who live in the city then we are penalizing those taxpayers who already live here and pay the bill.  He 

does not feel that this was well thought out.  He feels that there are other things that potentially could be 

done with regard to take home vehicles and other incentives.  He stated that he opposes it.  Councilman 

Bullard stated that he thinks he brought this up at the last meeting as well; it is a slap in the face to the 

employees that do not live within the city limits that have been here for years and years.  We took away 

some of their longevity and now we are incentivizing people that live in the city.  He stated that he went 

back and listened to the HR directors reasoning for this.  If you go to the WebEx recording around 30 – 

33 minutes he stated that the reason for consideration was and he quoted “the employees who are 

residents of the community are more committed to the community.  They shop in the community, go to 

schools, and they participate in civil life.” Again, to him it is just a slap in the face to some of the 

employees that might live a few blocks outside the city limits.  They are just as equally committed to the 

community as someone who lives two (2) or three (3) blocks closer in the city limits.  He would rather 

see something else done and is opposed to this.  Councilman Mishler stated that he supports the $1,200 

for those who live within the city limits and work for the city for this simple reason.  Those who live 

outside the city limits already have a bonus in the form of not having to pay for city taxes or city 

services such as sewer and trash.  In his opinion, this $1,200 is more of an equalizing factor to assist 

those folks who live in the city and should be considered more of a tax break for them to equalize them 



   

 

3 

 

to the employees that live outside the city limits.  He considers it a tax break for city employees and this 

the city residents of Elkhart so he supports this.  Councilman Bullard stated that he wants to debate 

Aaron’s point in regards to paying city taxes compared to county taxes.  He recently went through an 

annexation and he sat right here in this room and talked to Kevin Foy and his county taxes at the time 

compared to being annexed into the city was a difference of less the $100.  So, the argument of paying 

the taxes or it is less in the county depends on what you have and your residence just does not hold 

water.  Councilman Henke stated that he does not understand Aaron’s philosophy at all.  He is 

suggesting that those that live in the county in many ways already have additional benefits especially if 

you are police, fire or others with the take home vehicles.  You get more mileage on the vehicles that are 

paid by the city residents, fuel that is paid for by city residents.  Everything we are doing here tonight is 

on the backs of the people who put us in office.  He is not representing the employees over his 

constituents.  When something is unfair to his constituents, he is going to say something and this is 

unfair.  They are the ones that are going to be indirectly penalized for living in the city.  People choose 

where they live and if we are not good enough as a city for them to live here then we have some work to 

do.  Councilwoman Baughman stated that if she is correct, the stipend was in addition to the four (4) 

percent cost of living adjustment as well as the four (4) percent merit based raise.  That is an additional 

one (1) to two (2) percent on top of that, that they are giving each city employee and she feels that is a 

little much to expect the taxpayers to fund.   

 President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote.  Councilman Bullard asked to have the 

amendment restated.  President Dawson asked the clerk to read the amendment to the proposed 

ordinance and then do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES: Curry, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Dawson 

NAYS: Bullard, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 

 

By a vote of 5-4, the amendment failed.   

 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-34 

 President Dawson opened the public discussion.  There was no discussion from the public. 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-34 

 President Dawson returned the discussion to the council.  President Dawson asked the clerk to do 

a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES: Curry, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Dawson 

NAYS: Bullard, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 

 

By a vote of 5-4, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

4 

 

 Councilwoman Hines made a motion to accept on third and final reading and was seconded by 

Councilman Mishler.  President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and 

do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES: Curry, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Dawson 

NAYS: Bullard, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 

 

By a vote of 5-4, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final reading. 

 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-35 

 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE 2023 BUDGET FOR THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 

AND MAKING APPROPRIATIONS FOR DEPARTMENT BUDGETS AND FOR OTHER 

CITY PURPOSES DURING THE CALENDAR YEAR 2023 (GATEWAY ORDINANCE) 

 

 President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  Motion by 

Councilwoman Hines and seconded by Councilman Fish.   

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-35 

 President Dawson opened the council discussion.  Councilman Henke said that it is stated in the 

Indiana Constitution, a municipal guidebook, budget oversight is the primary obligation of any city 

council.   With a rising budget of nearly $105 million dollars, it is even more critical to be good stewards 

of the public’s money.  Honesty and transparency were promised by this administration.  However, the 

provided budget books provided less detail than prior years and less than requested by some council 

members.  The tracking and trending of costs became difficult and was not easily followed nor agreed 

upon.  As an elected person, he depends on the administration and controller to provide sufficient 

information as requested to serve the public that elected me.  This was not accomplished therefore, he 

cannot support any form of this budget.  Councilwoman Baughman stated that it is her understanding 

based on the budget, more particular the general fund that contains the $1,200 per person so to be 

consistent she cannot vote for this as well.   

 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-35 

 President Dawson opened the public discussion.  There was no public discussion. 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-35 

 President Dawson returned the discussion to the council.  Councilman Fish stated that if there is 

any confusion by the council that they did not have enough information, they have had a lot of time to 

ask questions of the administration and department heads. He has gathered all the information and got 

his questions answered that came up in the budget book.  He is going to support this because he is very 

confident in the numbers.  He said that it would be great if they could slash the budget like everyone 

wants too but they have a growing city and they have a vibrant workforce that needs supported and 

taxpayers that look to him for guidance and support. The taxpayers love what is going on whether it is 



   

 

5 

 

the $1,200 or the police take home cars.  They understand that because he has gotten them the 

information from the administration and the staff has answered all of those questions.  Councilman 

Henke stated easily said, they could have predicted the 5-4 all the way through tonight.  He would like 

to know quite honestly is there was a single financial question or review of the $105 million budget from 

any Democrat in this office right here.  Councilman Mishler stated that he just wanted to thank the 

council for their attendance the previous Saturday where they had the department heads come to us to 

answer any questions we had regarding the budget. They got back to us via email with organizational 

charts and answered other questions that they had.  The administration has been transparent and 

forthright when they have clearly and directly identified the question.  He went on to thank the 

department heads for their participation in the budget session.   

 

 President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote on second reading. 

 

AYES: Curry, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Dawson 

NAYS: Bullard, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 

 

By a vote of 5-4, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 

 

 President Dawson asked for a motion for third and final reading.  Motion by Councilman Mishler 

and seconded by Councilwoman Hines.  He asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title and 

then do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES: Curry, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Dawson 

NAYS: Bullard, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 

 

By a 5-4 vote, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final reading. 

 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-36 

 

AN ORDINANCE FIXING THE ANNUAL SALARIES OF ELECTED OFFICIALS OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2023 

 

 President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He asked for a 

motion to adopt on second reading.  Motion by Councilman Curry and seconded by Councilman Fish. 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-36 

 President Dawson opened the council discussion.  Councilman Bullard had a question for city 

controller Jamie Arce.  He stated that of course they cannot have the $1,200 bonus because they all have 

to live within the city limits in order to run for council.  He asked is there a cost of living in this. Jamie 

Arce, City Controller stated yes, there is and that represents the seven (7) percent increase.   

 

 Councilman Bullard made a motion to amend the proposed ordinance.  The amendment was to 

cap the cost of living at three (3) percent.  Seconded by Councilwoman Baughman.   

 



   

 

6 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON THE AMENDMENT TO PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-36 

 President Dawson opened the council discussion on the amendment.  There was no council 

discussion.  President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES: Bullard, Baughman, Henke 

NAYS: Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Dawson 

 

By a vote of 6-3, the amendment fails. 

 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 2-O-36 

 President Dawson opened the public discussion.  There was no discussion from the public. 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-36 

 President Dawson returned the discussion to the council.  Seeing no further discussion, he asked 

the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES: Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Dawson 

NAYS:  Bullard, Baughman, Henke 

 

By a vote of 6-3, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 

 

 President Dawson asked for a motion on third and final reading.  Motion by Councilwoman 

Hines and seconded by Councilman Fish.  President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed 

ordinance by title only and to do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES:  Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Dawson 

NAYS:  Bullard, Baughman, Henke 

 

By a 6-3 vote, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final reading. 

 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-39 

 

AN ORDINANCE FIXING THE SALARIES AND WAGES FOR APPOINTED OFFICERS AND 

OTHER SALARIED EMPLOYEES OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA FOR THE 

CALENDAR YEAR 2023 

 

 President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He then asked for 

a motion to adopt on second reading.  Motion by Councilwoman Hines and seconded by Councilman 

Mishler.   

 

 

 

 



   

 

7 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-39 

 President Dawson opened the council discussion.  Councilman Henke asked if anyone could tell 

him what the clothing allowance.  President Dawson asked if anyone from the administration would 

like to address that question.  Jamie Arce asked the councilman to restate his question.  Councilman 

Henke asked what the clothing allowance was for police officers and what the specialty pay is overall.  

President Dawson stopped the line of questioning stating that what Councilman Henke was asking 

about is a union issue and that what they are talking about is the ordinance for appointment and other 

salaried officials.  Councilman Thomas stated that ordinance 39 by title is fixing the salaries and wages 

for appointed officers and other salaried employees.  That is different wording that what is on 37 and 38 

especially for the word compensation.  Is this a matter of wording or are we actually reading this as an 

ordinance of fixed salaries and compensation for appointed officers. He asked if the wording was matter 

of legality.  He asked if the salaries and wages included the $1,200 incentive.  Jamie Arce replied yes, 

as it stands now and he stated that he believes it is in Section 3 of the ordinance.  Councilman Thomas 

stated just for clarification the $1,200 applies to any employee living within the city limits with the 

exception of elected officials.  Jamie Arce stated that is correct along with those that are part of a 

collectively bargain group.  Councilman Bullard stated the last time they spoke this is for approximately 

190 employees.  Jamie Arce stated that he believes that would be a reasonable estimate between civil 

city and what would be impacted at public works.  Councilman Bullard stated that in an email that was 

sent by Jamie, the question was asked if there was anybody previously employed at 100% and you said 

that there was only two (2) that are at 98%.  Jamie Arce stated that is correct and those positions were 

all established prior to the implementation of the Wagner, Erwin and Shields salary survey.  

Councilman Bullard then before this last budget, we had quite a bit discussion on where these 

employees last budget got a 4% across the board raise.  Jamie Arce stated that it was an up to 4% merit 

raise.  He believes that on average it was 3.7-3.8% for the majority of the population.  Councilman 

Bullard stated then for this year that average is going to be in the 6 ½ to 7 range.  Jamie Arce stated 

that most likely it will be dependent on the final vote of how the merit matrix.  He stated that is largely 

anticipated to be where things will land but it is yet to be finalized.  Councilman Bullard stated that his 

next statement is directed more for Arvis; he still has a problem with the $1,200 and can they separate 

that in this particular ordinance.  He asked if he could make an amendment to remove.  President 

Dawson stated that yes; he can make an amendment to do that.   

 

 Councilman Bullard made a motion to amend Proposed Ordinance 22-O-39 by deleting Section 

3 of the ordinance.  Seconded by Councilwoman Baughman 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON THE AMENDMENT TO PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-39 

 President Dawson opened the council discussion regarding the amendment.  Seeing none, he 

asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 

NAYS:  Curry, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Dawson 

 

By a vote of 5-4, the amendment fails.   

 

 

 



   

 

8 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-39 

 Councilman Henke asked Jamie to come back up.  He stated that on this particular grouping of 

people under this specific ordinance and outside of the salaries and direct benefit, what is the percentage 

that the taxpayer pays and employee pays when it comes to PERF.  Jamie Arce in regards to PERF the 

city picks up the entire 11.2% plus, the previous city council had elected to also bear the 3% burden that 

is the employee portion.  That is largely commonplace with the area and local communities.  

Councilman Henke stated so what he is hearing is that the employee pays nothing whether they live in 

the city or the county and that the taxpayers are paying for the PERF.  Jamie Arce stated that would be 

correct.  Councilman Henke then asked outside of PERF, direct wage and health benefits.  What 

portion does the employee pay for health benefits and what portion comes from the taxpayers?  Jamie 

Arce stated that the employee versus the employer portion of the health insurance is dependent on a 

couple of factors.  One is there are three (3) plans that the city offers.  They offer a premier plan; a 

health wise plan and a healthy saver plan and all of those have different requirements.  He thinks that on 

average it is 75/25 on the premium plan, 85/15 on the health wise plan and 90/10 on the high deductible 

plan.  That burden then gets a little bit more complicated as they look at the wellness benefits versus 

those that choose to not participate in our wellness plan.  I think those give you a rough general idea of 

what you are looking for.  Councilman Henke stated then the greater portion is from the tax base.  

Jamie Arce stated that is correct and that has been a level that has been maintained.  Councilman 

Henke stated his point being if he picked Building and Code, where would it show him the breakdown 

of those benefits so that he can see from year to year what the increase has been because we have 

increased the base salary therefore, we have increased the cost of PERF.  We have increased the cost of 

every tax given us.  Where would he break that out?  Jamie Arce stated that it would be located in your 

budget book with in the benefits.  Councilman Henke stated yeah, you mean the one that is not broken 

out.  And that is his point it makes it hard to trend when it is not broken down.  It is hard then, to hold 

future accountability if we just blend all of the numbers in.  There used to be about eight (8) sections in 

that particular category and now there is one (1).  President Dawson stated that to Councilman Henke’s 

point, he knows that this whole process was new for us. Jamie Arce stated that it was a new process.  

President Dawson stated that the general consensus he believes is not something that we liked.  As we 

move forward next year, we went to talk about how the process unfolds and how we would like to see it 

as a council.  Councilman Henke said Mr. President, he did that on the night that they got the books to 

all the administration.  President Dawson stated have to go forward now.  Councilman Bullard stated 

that it is quite obvious that there are a couple parts of this budget that we do not like but on this 

ordinance, especially when they are talking about the salary and appointed officials.  He said this is 

more of a statement than a question.  We as the city council have the final say, we make the rules, we 

make the votes, and even the mayor has the final say.  He thinks that the true success of a city is the 

employees and the people that work for it.  He thinks of the 190 employees that work for the city, they 

want the success as much as anybody does.  He stated that there are parts of this budget that he does not 

agree with but it is hard to not agree and support your employees.  Councilwoman Baughman stated 

that she would just like to add a bit of perspective.  When we are trying to quantify and do a cost 

comparison of services whether it be salary and benefits when you go out into the private sector and you 

look at their benefits many of our private sector businesses here only give five (5) paid holidays.  City 

workers receive 12 plus 2 additional ones during an election year.  When you look at our vacation 

policy, she feels that we have a very attractive policy.  Some of the largest employers in the area only 

give two (2) weeks period.  She feels that you have to look at it as a whole package versus just trying to 

look at the compensation in silos and bits and pieces.  President Dawson said that in response to that, it 

is hard to compare public to private.  There are two (2) different worlds there.  The private sector is in it 



   

 

9 

 

to make a benefit or refund for their stockholders.  Our goal is to our citizens so that they can provide 

the necessary services so that they are happy with what we are doing.  At one time, the city job was not 

considered to be a lucrative job in our community.  It was one where people came, worked and moved 

on.  Since then, we have incentivized the positions and make it a better workplace for our employees.  

He thinks it is important to do that. If they can keep their employees, our longevity he believes is much 

better in the public sector than it is in the private sector.  He feels that their ability to be more consistent 

with their funds has helped that.  He thinks that it is kind of a misnomer when you compare municipal 

government to multimillion-dollar corporations whose objective is to make money for their 

stockholders.  Our stockholders are our citizens; they are the ones that pay our bills.  They are the ones 

that they have to respond to and they are not interested in us making money but providing them with 

service.  Councilman Henke stated that there is a good comparison that municipal workers are 37% 

more likely to use sick time and worker’s compensation.  He stated that it was a good statement by you, 

but when he talks about our stakeholders, we are using their dollars to incentivize. When we outpace our 

local markets normally in longevity, by the way, our longevity was blended into the new salary piece, it 

was not lost.  The same $500 that was a wellness benefit was put right directly to pay.  Therefore, 

nothing was taken away.  When tend to employ new people at the wage of the last one that left who may 

have been here for years.  The biggest issue he has is that they were promised performance reviews and 

those matrixes that would tell us where people are on performance.  He has not received anything in 

regards to where they are in the cycle of pay increases based on those performance reviews.   

 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-39 

 President Dawson opened the public discussion.  There was no discussion from the public.   

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-39 

 President Dawson returned the discussion to the council.  He asked the clerk to do a Roll Call 

vote. 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Dawson 

NAYS:  Thomas, Baughman, Henke 

 

By a vote of 6-3, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 

 

Motion by Councilwoman Hines and seconded by Councilman Mishler for third and final.  President 

Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and to do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Dawson 

NAYS:  Thomas, Baughman, Henke 

 

By a vote of 6-3, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final reading. 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

10 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-40 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING SEVEN HUNDRED TEN THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($710,000.00) FROM THE CUMULATIVE CAPITAL FIRE EQUIPMENT FUND TO THE 

MOTOR EQUIPMENT ACCOUNT FOR THE PURCHASE OF AN AMBULANCE FOR THE 

ELKHART FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 

 President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He asked for a 

motion to adopt on second reading.  Motion by Councilman Curry and seconded by Councilman Henke 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-40 

 President Dawson opened the council discussion.  There was no discussion from the council. 

 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-40 

 President Dawson opened the public discussion.  There was no discussion from the public. 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-40 

 President Dawson returned the discussion to the council.  There was no discussion from the 

council.  He asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote on second reading. 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a unanimous vote of 9-0, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 

 

Motion by Councilman Henke and seconded by Councilman Thomas for third and final.  President 

Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and to do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a unanimous vote of 9-0, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final reading. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

11 

 

ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 21-O-49, AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING THREE HUNDRED 

TWENTY-TWO THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED AND FIFTY DOLLARS ($322,350.00) 

FROM THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND TO THE NEGATIVE 

ECONOMIC IMPACT ACCOUNT FOR THE ELKHART THRIVE NEIGHBORHOOD 

OPPORTUNITY HUB INITIATIVE 

 

President Dawson stated that Proposed Ordinance 21-O-49 remains in committee.  

 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-37, AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING A SCHEDULE OF 

SALARIES AND OTHER COMPENSATION FOR THE POLICE OFFICERS OF THE CITY 

OF ELKHART, INDIANA, FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2023 

 

President Dawson stated that Proposed Ordinance 22-O-37 remains in committee. 

 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-38, AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING A SCHEDULE OF 

SALARIES AND OTHER COMPENSATION FOR THE FIRE DEPARTMENT OF THE CITY 

OF ELKHART, INDIANA, FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2023 

 

President Dawson stated that Proposed Ordinance 22-O-38 remains in committee.  Fire Chief Shaun 

Edgerton stated that they are not in negotiations this year.  President Dawson asked the clerk if this 

was removed from committee.  Angie McKee, Council Clerk stated that it was removed from 

committee.   

 President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He asked for a 

motion to adopt on second reading.  Motion by Councilman Fish and seconded by Councilman Mishler. 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-38 

 President Dawson opened the council discussion.  Councilman Henke stated that this says that 

it was referred to committee.  Are we saying the agenda was wrong or did we vote it out of committee 

tonight?  President Dawson stated that it was voted out of committee at the Finance meeting.  

Councilman Henke replied all right.  The second part about that is, does this include the $1,200?  

President Dawson asked someone to answer that question.  He asked Councilman Henke to repeat his 

question.  Councilman Henke stated does the firefighter ordinance of salaries include the $1,200 for the 

city residents.  John Espar, Corporation Counsel stated he believes the approach was that since they 

are in contract negotiations that if that becomes part of their collective bargaining agreement, any other 

appropriations that may also arise they would come back to.  The currently budgeted salaries are based 

upon last year.  President Dawson asked so is that a no that the $1,200 is not included.  Councilman 

Henke stated so that also means that could be underway for police at this time.  Is that what we are 

saying?  John Espar stated that he does not believe they have any tentative agreements.  He said 

anything is possible once they get together and start that collaborative negotiation process.  Councilman 

Henke asked so does the budget already incorporate funds. President Dawson stated that they start 

negotiations with the fire department in 2023.  Jamie Arce stated that for police and firefighters, the 

$1,200 benefit is only for those that would not be part of collectively bargained group.  That is the only 

piece that would have been included for our police officers who are currently in the process of 



   

 

12 

 

negotiating.  We have not embedded any raises as of yet.  Councilman Henke stated so in the budget 

book where would that be denoted.  Where is the Schedule A that would tell me that?  Jamie Arce 

stated that it should have spoken to it specifically on the Schedule A.  He said that is may not have 

specifically said for those that were not collectively bargained.  Councilman Henke stated that so it is 

not directly spoken to which, as you well know, I knew the answer before I asked.  This talks to us about 

the need for further clarity and transparency in our future budget books.  Jamie Arce stated that he 

believes they spoke to it during the meeting.  Councilman Henke stated that he needs it to be on a 

Schedule A.  And if they had a breakout of benefits which is item 413 in all of our books that would be a 

great place for it to be broken out with all of the other benefits.  Councilman Mishler stated that to this 

knowledge they are currently discussing the fire department compensation, which is already through 

2023.  The police officers contract has not been presented to them since that is currently under contract 

and therefore, could have not have been possible to include in the agenda; correction the budget since it 

is an unknown.  We are discussing 22-O-38 which is was glad that Jamie was able to clarify the $1,200 

which was what the original question is not included.  Councilman Henke said then tell me how do we 

pass a 2023 budget, which we already did, without knowing the police.  President Dawson stated that 

this has been done before.  It is not the first time they have done it this way.  They have had negotiations 

go on, the budget be passed and then Jamie will come back with a special appropriation after the 

contracts have been signed.  Then they will decide whether or not to ratify those or not.  Councilman 

Henke stated and we criticized it then and we should criticize it now that it is not done before the budget 

hearing.  Therefore, he is protesting that portion.  Councilman Mishler stated point of order, we are still 

discussion 22-O-38, which is about the fire department and 22-O-39 is about the police department.  

Councilwoman Baughman stated that she has it in front of her and on Page 4 of 5 under the last 

paragraph of Section 3, it says that the resident incentive is included.  President Dawson stated for non-

union employees.  Councilwoman Baughman stated then just to be clear it does include the $1,200 for 

the ones that are not included in the collective bargaining agreement.  President Dawson stated yes that 

is correct.   

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-38 

 President Dawson opened the public discussion.  There was no discussion from the public. 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-38 

 President Dawson returned the discussion to the council.  He asked the clerk to do a Roll Call 

vote on second reading. 

 

AYES:  Curry, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Dawson 

NAYS:  Bullard, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 

 

By a vote of 5-4, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

13 

 

Motion by Councilman Mishler and seconded by Councilwoman Hines for third and final.  President 

Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and to do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES:  Curry, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Dawson 

NAYS:  Bullard, Thomas, Baughman, Henke 

 

By a vote of 5-4, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final reading. 

 

 

TABLED ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS 

 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-09, AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP 

CREATED PURSUANT TO ORDINANCE NO. 4370, THE “ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA” AS AMENDED, TO REZONE 309 STAINLESS DRIVE, 

ELKHART, INDIANA BY REMOVING THE EXISTING ZONING RESTRICTION, WHICH 

PROHIBITS ACCESS TO THE PROPERTY FROM COUNTY ROAD 19 

 

President Dawson stated that Proposed Ordinance 22-O-09 remains tabled. 

 

 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-22, A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF ELKHART EXPRESSING INTEREST IN THE PURCHASE OF CERTAIN 

REAL ESTATE LOCATED IN THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF CR 106 AND WOODLAND 

ESTATES DRIVE 

 

President Dawson stated that Proposed Resolution 22-R-22 remains tabled. 

 

 

ORDINANCES ON FIRST READING 

 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-41, AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING CERTAIN REAL ESTATE 

COMMONLY KNOWN AS 29224 COUNTY ROAD 6 WEST, ELKHART, INDIANA, AND 

DECLARING THE SAME TO BE PART OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-41, moved on to second reading with no objections. 

 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-42, AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING VARIOUS FEES AND 

PARKING REGULATIONS REGARDING CITY-OWNED ELECTRIC VEHICLE 

CHARGING STATIONS. 

 

Councilman Henke stated that in trying to read this and look at the larger picture than was painted.  

There is a significant cost without grants and with grants; there is still a significant cost.  Then the 

maintenance and all of those things and the fee of $2.00 per hour.  President Dawson asked if he would 

like it assigned to a committee.  Councilman Henke stated yes. 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-42 was assigned to committee. 



   

 

14 

 

President Dawson asked for a five-minute break because they need to clarify some of the resolutions 

before we move forward. 

 

   

RESOLUTIONS 

 

Proposed Resolution 22-R-44 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 

DECLARING A CERTAIN AREA TO BE AN ECONOMIC REVITALIZATION AREA FOR 

THE PURPOSE OF GRANTING TAX PHASE-IN BENEFITS TO MARINE REALTY, LLC 

DBA BENNINGTON MARINE (SOUTH) – 2800 DECIO DRIVE 

 

 President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.  President 

Dawson asked for a motion to table until the next council meeting.  Motion by Councilman Fish and 

seconded by Councilman Henke.   

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the proposed resolution was tabled. 

 

 

Proposed Resolution 22-R-45 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 

DECLARING A CERTAIN AREA TO BE AN ECONOMIC REVITALIZATION ARE FOR 

THE PURPOSE OF GRANTING TAX PHASE-IN BENEFITS TO MARINE REALTY, LLC 

DBA BENNINGTON MARINE (NORTH) – 2805 DECIO DRIVE 

 

 President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.  President 

Dawson asked for a motion to table until the next council meeting.  Motion by Councilman Fish and 

seconded by Councilman Henke. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the proposed resolution was tabled. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

15 

 

Proposed Resolution 22-R-46 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, 

ADOPTING THE WRITTEN FISCAL PLAN TO DEFINE A POLICY FOR THE PROVISION 

OF SERVICES TO THE AREA COMMONLY KNOWN AS 29224 COUNTY ROAD 6 WEST, A 

PROPOSED ANNEXATION AREA 

 

 President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.  He asked for a 

motion to adopt the resolution.  Motion by Councilwoman Hines and seconded by Councilman Henke 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-46 

 President Dawson opened the council discussion.  Councilman Henke stated that on this 

particular fiscal plan, is there any city cost for any portion of hook up or line extension.  Eric Trotter, 

Assistant Director of Planning stated no, there would not be as the services are available.  

Councilman Henke said okay so the city has no portion then do we have any other street changes, curb 

cuts or any other cost in that regard.  Eric Trotter stated that he does not believe there should be.  

Councilman Henke stated that the reason he is asking is that in 22-O-41 there was a front page that 

talked about it is anticipated that any increase in cost for provision of services will be offset by the 

increase in tax revenue.  He is not used to seeing verbiage like that so it required him to ask the question 

if they are going to have dollars out waiting for reimbursement.  Before we go to 22-O-41, which is now 

tabled, could the face page please be addressed?  It cannot be done tonight because it is tabled but could 

you please look at the wording.  Eric Trotter stated certainly. 

 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-46 

 President Dawson opened the public discussion.  There was no discussion from the public.   

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-46 

 President Dawson returned the discussion to the council.  There was no further discussion.  He 

asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a unanimous vote of 9-0, the proposed resolution passed. 

 

 

 

VACATION HEARINGS 

There were no vacation hearings 

 

 

 

 



   

 

16 

 

OTHER NEW BUSINESS 

 Councilman Thomas stated that he is showing his age but they used to get reports from every 

commission every board and an entity that met other than ourselves.  Now we are getting very few and 

we get three (3) plan commission reports dated May, July and August.  He stated that he kind of depends 

on these reports to double check on things and to be made aware of things that are happening that he was 

not aware of either in his district or other districts.  He is going to pick on the plan commission; to get 

reports from May does not do him any good.  Let us bring them up to date.  He stated he does not 

understand why it takes so long to type up minutes after board meetings and to get them to the council.  

The second thing is kind of picky, but in the Board of Public Works from September 20th, under 

revocable permits, the Council on Aging was listed as the property owner of 131 West Tyler and are 

they not just renters.  He would rather see truth in advertising here as they are not the owners they are 

renters and they ask for he is assuming they asked to get away from a restriction on signage.  They have 

one (1) of those umbrella signs up there, which he thought were not allowed within the city limits.  The 

last thing and most important is you all got a photo in your packet from the gentleman in his district that 

is having an ongoing concern about the car and you can see how many cars he is talking about.  Along 

with a two (2) page letter in which he makes good points.  To the point that Mr. Henke made that, 

residents are not getting their share of the services.  This longtime resident is not getting his share of 

services.  All he is getting is the run around.  President Dawson asked him where he was talking about.  

Councilman Thomas stated that it is the abandoned Martin’s property on Nappanee Street, which butts 

up right next to this fellow’s residential area.  He asked the legal department if they have sent a letter to 

the private property owner explaining to him what the situation is and asking that he post that this is 

private property.  He realizing that he does not have too, but has the legal department done that?  John 

Espar stated that he would have to know who the individual is. Councilman Thomas stated that this 

has been going on for a year.  He stated that he would give John the letter and the photo.   

 Councilman Henke stated let me parlay there Mr. Thomas.  Mr. Espar assisted two (2) years 

ago on a trailer-parking problem in Eastlake Estates last year, the city removed the trailer after some 

time and he appropriately looked at it again this year when it came up.  However, it took them months 

and then he gave direction to the police department.  There seem to be some sort of a disconnect 

between legal authority and then to the police to get the job done.  When someone finally went out there, 

they had the wrong hitch so the trailer could not be taken away.  Now they have it moved into their 

driveway but in front of their house.  This has been a two (2) year stint with over $5,000 in fines.  John 

Espar stated that he was under the impression that the towing would be complete by now.  He then 

asked Chief Kris Seymore if it was complete.  Chief Seymore stated yes as of today.  Councilman 

Henke said that it was gone from the street but was in the drive.  President Dawson asked the chief to 

get back with us on that so that David has a report on that.  Councilman Henke stated that to Brian’s 

point, they have been fighting this for two (2) years.  You are getting calls because I am getting calls.  

Additionally, in his district and in fact in his neighborhood, they have had several incidences involving 

police investigations and they are yet to hear discussion between the victims and police.  One incident is 

three (3) months old, which is a dog bite with injury.  In regards to his vehicle and nineteen (19) other 

property damage issues, got nothing.  One family did and so he is not sure where they are at with 

incidences, communications, and that unparalleled portion.  Chief Seymore stated that the 

investigations that are being referred to in the neighborhood, charges should filed with the prosecutor’s 

office or submitted for review within the next week or two.  He was just updated on that this morning.  

They have had some issues with victims returning calls from the detective working the case so they are 

trying to work through that was well. They do have a suspect identified and are working through that.  

Councilman Henke asked if that was the one with all of the tire punctures.  Chief Seymore stated yes.   



   

 

17 

 

Councilman Henke stated that the citizens had a lot that work done as far as putting him up to his 

Facebook page saying same jacket same everything within 24 hours.  Chief Seymore stated a lot of that 

information is not information that they can necessarily use unless they can corroborate or contradict 

that.  Councilman Henke stated that he has received zero calls.  Chief Seymore responded by saying 

that his wife is the one that received the call and has not yet returned the call to the detective.  He said he 

got with the detective this morning and asked him to make a personal appearance or send a letter.  

Councilman Henke asked if the detective had his phone number.  Chief Seymore stated that he does 

not know.  Councilman Henke went on to say that, he was able to attend a Board of Public Safety 

meeting last week and the question became who can compel IT not to make public meeting public.  

Someone directed IT because they do not have the authority themselves to shut off outside 

communications until which point several police officers texted and said that they could not get in.  

There was a discussion that IT was told by someone not make it public.  They went to legal and legal 

kind of pointed to the prosecutor’s office and they said it was not them. Open door is open door there is 

nothing we get to do about it.   Finally, the Lerner use.  The city used the Lerner through the budget 

process.  They opened the Lerner, had to staff, fed us twice that day and they had to clean up.  His 

question is it did not come out of the council budget, it did not come out of city budget.  President 

Dawson stopped him and said that was not correct.  Councilman Henke stated that he talked to the 

director.  President Dawson stated that he should talk to him and we can talk after the meeting if you 

want too.  Angie had an invoice that we paid for the use of facilities.  Councilman Henke asked so why 

would the director not be aware of this.  President Dawson stated that he was not sure but that he 

should come to him and he can answer those questions.  Jamie Arce wanted to add that the rental was 

through the Crystal Ballroom, which would not have been through Michelle directly.   

 Councilman Mishler stated that just going back to a couple of Board of Public Works 

comments from Tuesday, September 20th.  He was happy to see that some additional funds from the 

Small Business Continuity Grant Program was given out to several small businesses in our community.  

He is happy to see continued support from this council and administration for the success of small 

businesses in our community and marketing.  In regards to the Board of Public Safety meeting on 

Tuesday, September 27th, he again just wanted to highlight that Detective Greg Harder received an 

outstanding service award for a 20 year old cold case homicide.  He is sure that there is a family that is 

relieved for his hard work and we appreciate it here on the council and in our city.   

 

 

REPORTS OF THE MAYOR, BOARD OF WORKS, BOARD OF SAFETY OR CITY 

DEPARTMENT HEADS 

   

There were no reports. 

 

NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION REPORTS 

 Councilman Curry stated that they meet on the first Sunday but they still talk among 

themselves to make the change to get ready for leaf pick up and to try to get people to park off the street 

so that when the snowplows come through they can do a good job.  That is the Pierre Moran 

Neighborhood Association.   

 Councilwoman Hines stated that despite what some on the council would think is the best 

district in the city, the 5th district, the 6th district is hosting Let’s Talk Tuesday and she wanted to invite 

everyone to come.  It is tomorrow at 6:30pm at McNaughton Park.   

 



   

 

18 

 

 

PRIVILEGE OF THE FLOOR 

 Brett Null, city of Elkhart resident asked in regards to all of the cars, what is going on illegal 

there?  President Dawson informed him that they cannot have dialogue with him but he can talk to 

Councilman Thomas after the meeting.  He then asked what is your question.  Mr. Null stated how do 

we go about resolving a situation when it is not a situation.  He also invited everyone to attend a Trunk 

or Treat right there in that parking lot on Saturday, October 29th at 5pm.   

 

SCHEDULING OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

  President Dawson stated that he would find out which committee they are going to put the 

electric charging stations in. He will schedule the meeting once he has a chance to look at the 

committees.   

 

 

ACCEPTANCE OF COMMUNICATIONS 
Minutes of August 31, 2022 – Board of Aviation Commissioners 

Minutes of September 13, 2022 – Board of Public Safety 

Minutes of September 30, 2022 – Board of Public Works 

Minute of May 2, 2022 – Planning Commission 

Minutes of July 5, 2022 – Planning Commission 

Minutes of August 1, 2022 – Planning Commission 

Report – Month End September 2022 – Communications Center 

 

 

 Motion by Councilwoman Hines, seconded by Councilman Mishler, moved to accept 

communications, which motion carried, by voice vote, and the communications were accepted. 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

 Motion by Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilman Mishler, moved for adjournment, which 

motion carried unanimously, by voice vote, and the meeting was adjourned. 

 

 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk    Arvis Dawson  

       President of the Elkhart City Council 



  DRAFT 

  

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COMMON COUNCIL MEETING 

OF NOVEMBER 7, 2022 

 

Present: Council President Arvis Dawson 

Council Members Kevin Bullard, Brent Curry, Brian Thomas, Aaron Mishler, Tonda 

Hines, Megan Baughman, Dwight Fish, David Henke 

    

Absent:  

 This meeting was made available to the public electronically through WebEx and live-streamed 

on Facebook. All Council Members were present in Council Chambers.  

 

 President Dawson called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers at City Hall, 

229 S. Second Street, in Elkhart.   

 

 Councilman Thomas led the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance. President Dawson asked for a 

moment of silent reflection. 

  

 The clerk called the roll.   

 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Council minutes of April 4, 2022 and April 18, 2022 along with Finance Committee-Of-The-Whole 

minutes from April 25, 2022 were submitted for approval.  Motion to approve all minutes made by 

Councilman Henke and seconded by Councilman Fish.  Councilman Fish asked about the minutes from 

the Finance Committee-Of-The-Whole. He stated that in the minutes it is noted that the audio does not 

start until 37 minutes and asked if that audio is permanently gone.  Council Clerk McKee stated that the 

recording is not there because when she started the meeting that night there was an issue and when IT 

came in and restarted the recording the 37 minutes is not there.  She did say she would look and see if the 

transcript is available in case it was ever needed.   

 

By a unanimous voice vote of 9-0, the minutes were approved. 

 

 

PRESENTATIONS AND INTRODUCTIONS 

 

There were no presentations or introductions 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

 

REPORTS OF COUNCIL COMMITTEES 

There were no reports of council committees 

 

 

 

 



   

 

2 

 

ORDINANCES ON SECOND-THIRD READING 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-41 

 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING CERTAIN REAL ESTATE COMMONLY KNOWN AS 29224 

COUNTY ROAD 6 WEST, ELKHART, INDIANA, AND DECLARING THE SAME TO BE 

PART OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 

 

 President Dawson asked the clerk to read Proposed Ordinance 22-O-41 by title only.  He asked 

for a motion to approve on second reading.  Motion by Councilman Henke and seconded by 

Councilwoman Hines 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-41 

 President Dawson opened the council discussion.  Councilman Henke stated he was able to pull 

it up and in just looking it gives the indication that this is a carve out between two (2) properties already 

in the city limits; is that accurate?  Kristen Smole, Assistant Director of Economic Development 

stated that yes it was a little area that was surrounded by the city, especially on the east side of the 

property.  Councilman Henke asked if the petitioners owned the other properties as well.  Kristen 

Smole stated that is correct.   

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-41 

 President Dawson opened the public discussion.  There was no discussion from the public on this 

proposed ordinance.   

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-41 

 President Dawson returned the discussion to the council.  There was no further discussion from 

the council.  He asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote on second reading. 

 

AYES: Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Baughman, Fish, Henke Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a unanimous vote of 9-0, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 

 

 President Dawson asked for a motion on third and final.  Motion by Councilman Thomas and 

seconded by Councilman Henke.  He asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and to 

do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a unanimous vote of 9-0, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final reading.   

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

3 

 

ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 21-O-49, AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING THREE HUNDRED 

TWENTY-TWO THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED AND FIFTY DOLLARS ($322,350.00) 

FROM THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND TO THE NEGATIVE 

ECONOMIC IMPACT ACCOUNT FOR THE ELKHART THRIVE NEIGHBORHOOD 

OPPORTUNITY HUB INITIATIVE 

 

President Dawson stated that Proposed Ordinance 21-O-49 remains in committee.  

 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-37, AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING A SCHEDULE OF 

SALARIES AND OTHER COMPENSATION FOR THE POLICE OFFICERS OF THE CITY 

OF ELKHART, INDIANA, FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2023 

 

President Dawson stated that Proposed Ordinance 22-O-37 remains in committee. 

 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-42, AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING VARIOUS FEES AND 

PARKING REGULATIONS REGARDING CITY-OWNED ELECTRIC CHARGING 

STATIONS 

 

President Dawson stated that Proposed Ordinance 22-O-42 remains in committee. 

 

TABLED ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS 

 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-09, AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP 

CREATED PURSUANT TO ORDINANCE NO. 4370, THE “ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA” AS AMENDED, TO REZONE 309 STAINLESS DRIVE, 

ELKHART, INDIANA BY REMOVING THE EXISTING ZONING RESTRICTION, WHICH 

PROHIBITS ACCESS TO THE PROPERTY FROM COUNTY ROAD 19 

 

President Dawson stated that Proposed Ordinance 22-O-09 remains tabled. 

 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-R-22, A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA EXPRESSING INTEREST IN THE PURCHASE OF 

CERTAIN REAL ESTATE LOCATED IN THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF CR 106 AND 

WOODLAND ESTATES DRIVE 

 

President Dawson stated that would like a motion to remove this proposed resolution from the table.  

Motion by Councilman Mishler and seconded by Councilman Fish.   

 

By a unanimous voice vote of 9-0, the proposed resolution was removed from the table.   

 

President Dawson stated that the administration has asked that this be removed from the agenda.  He 

would like a motion and not get a second then it will die and it is done.  Motion by Councilman Henke.   

 

Dies for a lack of a second.   



   

 

4 

 

TABLED ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS CONTINUED 

 

Proposed Resolution 22-R-44 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, 

DECLARING A CERTAIN AREA TO BE AN ECONOMIC REVITALIZATION AREA FOR 

THE PURPOSE OF GRANTING TAX PHASE-IN BENEFITS TO MARINE REALTY, LLC 

DBA BENNINGTON MARINE (SOUTH) – 2800 DECIO DRIVE 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read Proposed Resolution 22-R-44 by title only.  He asked for a 

motion to remove this proposed resolution from the table.  Motion by Councilman Mishler and seconded 

by Councilman Fish. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote of 9-0, the proposed resolution was removed from the table. 

 

President Dawson asked for a motion to adopt the proposed resolution.  Motion by Councilman Henke 

and seconded by Councilman Curry. 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-44 

 President Dawson opened the council discussion.   Councilman Henke stated that it looks like 

44 and 45, are conjoined in properties, and if there could be a presentation.  Kristen Smole, Economic 

Development stated that Drew is going to be presenting the tax phase-in for Bennington tonight.  She 

will be here for support but Drew will be taking the lead on these moving forward.  Drew Wynes, 

Economic Development stated that he is here to present Bennington’s South project.  Bennington 

Marine is a premier luxury pontoon manufacturer, which is owned by Polaris.  For this project, they will 

be creating a training center by renovating an existing building.  This expansion will add 10,635 square 

feet and they will be upscaling their labor force by creating a more prosperous career path while 

producing higher quality products.  For this project Bennington will have a five (5) year real property 

tax phase-in and this building is located at 2800 Decio Drive here in Elkhart.  Councilman Henke said 

that Drew stated that this is a current and existing building.  Drew Wynes stated yes, they are renovating 

it.  Councilman Henke stated that what he is after is the principals but also what is going to be the total 

personal improvements because you are not adding on to the building.  Drew Wynes stated that he 

forgot to mention the investment numbers.  They plan to invest $3,590,000 in real estate improvements, 

which includes $3,390,000 in new building construction, and $200,000 in IT equipment and this 

investment is projected to create 19 new positions with a median salary of $95,000.   

 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-44 

 President Dawson opened the public discussion.  There was no public discussion. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

5 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-44 

 President Dawson returned the discussion to the council.  Councilman Henke stated that he just 

wanted to clarify again that it was a nice presentation.  He questioned that it is an existing building with 

a $3 Million dollar upgrade.  You are not adding square footage.  Drew Wynes stated that there is 

several square feet being added and renovations being done that is why it is considered new building 

construction.  Councilman Henke asked how many square feet are being added.  Drew Wynes stated 

10,635 is being added.   Councilman Henke stated so that is the portion that is going to be abated right?  

Because that is the only new expenditure and the only one (1) qualified is the new portion being built.  

Drew Wynes yes and the IT equipment is part of the infrastructure of the building so there is that as 

well.  Councilman Henke stated so for clarification the $3 Million is strictly on new square footage it 

has nothing to do with the rest of it.  Drew Wynes stated that it is $3,390,000 in new building 

construction and the other $200,000 is for IT equipment.  Councilman Henke stated okay, he just 

wanted to make it clear that it has to be new construction.  Councilman Bullard asked if the IT 

equipment is part of automation or communications.  Drew Wynes stated that this is a training center 

and that the IT equipment is going to be part of the infrastructure.  He stated that the people from 

Bennington could probably answer that better than he can.  Andrew Bona, Chief Operating Officer 

from Bennington stated that is accurate, it is part of the infrastructure.   Councilman Henke stated that 

he is sure that they know this, but they are going to have to show that in order for the IT equipment to be 

tax eligible, it has to make an impact on overall production.  Kristen Smole stated that it does speak 

directly to production over time because this IT equipment allows the training to take place that will 

actually increase production over time.  Therefore, there is a production piece here that does make it a 

qualifying expense.   Councilman Henke asked if the COO could tell them who the principals are of 

this company.  Andrew Bona stated himself as the COO, Andy Roeder who is the CFO, Mike Shedivy 

who is the GM and Steve Ott who is Vice President of HR.   

 

 President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a unanimous vote of 9-0, the resolution passed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

6 

 

Proposed Resolution 22-R-45 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, 

DECLARING A CERTAIN AREA TO BE AN ECONOMIC REVITALIZATION AREA FOR 

THE PURPOSE OF GRANTING TAX PHASE-IN BENEFITS TO MARINE REALTY, LLC 

DBA BENNINGTON MARINE (NORTH) – 2805 DECIO DRIVE 

 

 President Dawson aske the clerk to read Proposed Resolution 22-R-45 by title only.  He asked 

for a motion to adopt this resolution.  Motion by Councilman Henke and seconded by Councilwoman 

Hines. 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-45 

 President Dawson opened the council discussion.  There was no council discussion. 

 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-45 

 President Dawson opened the public discussion.  There was no public discussion. 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-45 

 President Dawson returned the discussion to the council.  Seeing that there was no discussion 

from the council, he asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a unanimous vote of 9-0, the resolution passed. 

 

 

 

ORDINANCES ON FIRST READING 

 

There were no ordinances on first reading 

 

 

RESOLUTIONS 

 

There were no resolutions 

 

VACATION HEARINGS 

 

There were no vacation hearings 

 

 

 



   

 

7 

 

OTHER NEW BUSINESS 

  Councilman Henke stated just a couple of things that he wanted to bring out.  In your 

package.  The packet came four (4) days after the invitation.  This event was on the 31st and the packet 

came on the 4th.  Actually, it came on Thursday the 3rd.  Additionally he had a question about a letter he 

received in the mail your 2020 and 2021 employer provided insurance coverage for your taxes.  2020 

came in that same bundle and he was just wondering why it was a year late.  Councilman Bullard 

stated that he actually called HR.  Through 2020, there was some confusion through COVID and how it 

is reported and whether or not that needed to be reported.  So it was like do we do it or do we not do it.  

As they turned in taxes for 2020, a lot of the tax accountants said you do not need to do it.  Therefore, 

they did not do it and now they are saying well it would be good to have that information so that is why 

they sent it out.  It came from tax preparers saying you did not need to do it but just to cover the basis 

they are providing the information for your records but it is not needed.  Councilman Henke stated he 

has a follow up with that.  He stated that he does not take the city insurance but it shows that he is 

paying his portion of $188 a month and second that is 2020 which was reported to late and his point is 

that on his taxes he should have received a credit for the amount of money that it costs him out of his 

check for insurance that he does not have.  In 2021 it was greatly reduced to $6,898 it is half of the price 

and he is not sure why.  If he did not sign up for the insurance, he is wondering why he is being charged 

for this insurance and then why a year later it is half the rate of the year prior.  President Dawson asked 

Bradley Tracy, Chief of Staff to please check on this and get him an answer to this question.  He stated 

that when they did the redistricting this year and voted on it, it was brought to his attention that the 

council rules says you have to live in the district for six (6) months before you can run.  If someone 

wanted to run in the May primary, it would only be five (5) months, which would not make them 

eligible to run. He would like the council to look at that and make a change that would coincide with 

every ten (10) years when they do redistricting so that they do not disenfranchise somebody.   He does 

not know if that is something that the redistricting committee can look at since they already have that 

group and have them make a recommendation.  Councilman Fish stated that they would be happy to 

look into it and get back with the council.  Councilman Bullard asked if there would be some legal 

precedence at the state level.  President Dawson stated that is what the committee could find out.   

 Councilman Bullard stated that this Friday, November 11th is Veteran’s Day and there are 

ceremonies at Rice Cemetery and also at the Prairie Street Cemetery at 11:00am and he just wanted to 

invite everyone out there.  He stated that this Memorial Day out at Rice Cemetery, it was probably one 

of the largest crowds that was out there.  Please remember Friday, November 11th at 11:00am is the 

services for Veteran’s Day.   

 Councilman Mishler stated that he had received a call from a woman who had a downed tree do 

to the windstorm that we had the past couple of days on Olive Avenue.  He just wanted to compliment 

the city.  She said that emergency responders and everyone was very responsive in getting there and 

making sure that everyone was taken care of and that the right-of-way was cleared.  She did however, 

have some concerns following that; in speaking with the forester regarding other trees that may have 

been damaged in the public right-of-way.  He hopes that the administration can reach out to her and the 

forester and hopefully come to a satisfactory conclusion for that.   

 Councilman Henke stated that he has a call from a resident in the 4th district regarding the fact 

that someone had dumped a large pile of leaves on Congress Street between Richmond and Princeton.  

The resident stated that they called Mike Szues and within the hour, they had a team there picking it up.  

It does not get any better than that.   

 

 



   

 

8 

 

REPORTS OF THE MAYOR, BOARD OF WORKS, BOARD OF SAFETY OR CITY 

DEPARTMENT HEADS 

 Mayor Roberson stated that he wanted to comment on something that Councilman Bullard said 

earlier regarding Veteran’s Day.  This year, they will be acknowledging both Prairie Street and Rice.  

Normally, they do to Rice because the DAV invites them and that is primarily where the largest crowd 

gathers.  This year, they received a call from the VFW Post 88 who has been acknowledging the 

Veteran’s at Prairie Street.  Aaron will be attending the Prairie Street Cemetery given his relationship to 

the military.  They just want to make sure that you understood that you could go to either.  In addition, 

they have been working with Mike and the leaf pick up crew and they are working on a couple of 

different variations of how they go about picking up leaves.  It has been obvious that he does a 

wonderful job at going to the different sectors but the leaves all came down within the last couple of 

days because of the high winds.  Now, they have sectors that are two (2) weeks out and they are trying 

to figure out the appropriate way in which they can be there when the leaves come down.   

 Jamie Arce, City Controller wanted to address Councilman Henke’s concerns regarding the 

1095C that he received.  The first page is determining the affordability of our health insurance plan and 

that would have been had you chosen to participate in our plan, the lowest cost plan that was available 

for that year.  The second page would have identified whether or not you were covered or had any 

eligible individuals within your household being covered.  It would not have necessarily meant that you 

had coverage.  In the form that Councilman Henke provided, it is all on one page.  In Part 3, it would be 

the covered individuals.  So in his case, he takes the health insurance here, his name, and his dependents 

names would be listed there that are being covered.  This is just the affordable component that is left 

over from the affordable care act.  If you recall there use to be a penalty involved if you were not taking 

health insurance.  Councilman Henke stated so this is proof of coverage correct.  Jamie Arce stated 

that is correct.  Councilman Henke stated so if the correct boxes would have been checked then the 

credit would have come on your taxes.  Jamie Arce stated that is correct.  It would have allowed the 

IRS to see that you were appropriately covered or that you have been provided affordable coverage in 

the event that you had taken the health insurance in the marketplace.  He believes that this was an error 

between the city and the payroll company.   

 

 

NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION REPORTS 

  Councilman Curry reported on the Pierre Moran Neighborhood Association.  He stated that 

they were not able to meet at the Pierre Moran Park Pavilion this month because of Election Day.  The 

pavilion is a vote center, they did not want people in there because of the equipment, and some of the 

residents did not want to be near the equipment and be accused of tampering with it.  They have been 

talking with everybody to get them to put their leaves together for when Mike Szues and his crew.  They 

are doing a great job up north as he has seen them up there.  When he gets to his side of town, they want 

to be ready.  They also talked about people who are moving in and out of the neighborhood.  They had 

some people move in and they were glad to see how they really improved that house.  They have had 

some others moved out and they are watching to see what happens there.   

 Councilman Mishler stated that he had members of the Greenleaf Neighborhood Association 

reach out to him and Councilman Bullard with some concerns.  Their concern was with folks in the 

county who are burning leaves and that it is drifting over to the Greenleaf area.  He knows that leaf 

burning is banned in the city but he does not know if there is any discussion, they could have with the 

folks in the county or if there is anything, they can do.  He is just relaying the message from the 

association and hopefully they can work with them and our friends in the county.   



   

 

9 

 

 President Dawson stated that there is an effort of do Neighborhood Watch and someone from 

communications will be contacting your neighborhood associations to kind of set that up.  LaShawn 

Brooks from 311 is working on this and will be contacting the council to find out what neighborhood 

associations are active.  

 

 

PRIVILEGE OF THE FLOOR 

 Ralph Spelbring, resident of the City of Elkhart, redistricting was mentioned and he said that 

a district is about 8,500 to fall within and asked if they all fell within the 8,000 to 9,000 range.  Today 

was a good day as we had more daylight before noon so that meant that the children in Indiana and 

Michigan are safer.  The TV stations want the daylight savings time but the schoolchildren would be 

safer if we would run on the same time as Chicago.  He is a baseball fan and there was a no hitter in the 

World Series this year and he would have stayed with the starting pitcher a little longer but it worked 

out.  Sixty-Six (66) years ago, there was also a no hitter but it was even better as it was a perfect game 

by Don Larsen of Michigan City.  He went over to Michigan City to research his life.  He mentioned this 

to one of the librarians and she pulled out a folder and the night of the perfect game, the Michigan City 

council had a meeting and the perfect game was the talk of the council meeting.   

 Dennis Runner, resident of the City of Elkhart, and his main question has to deal with 

nuisance geese.  The federal Migratory Bird Act of 1918 was put into place to protect various migratory 

birds, giant Canadian geese being one of them.  As many people here know, the large amount of geese 

that we have can be a problem.  His question is basically this, in regards to the rules that have been set 

forth by the federal government in regards to dispersing geese in other words not making any physical 

contact with them.  Is it allowable for a city citizen of the City of Elkhart to disperse geese from an area?  

They go into the roads and he has gone out and actually pushed them out of the road back into the park 

areas and into the river herding them like cattle or sheep.  He said that he was approached by a couple of 

officers about a week and a half ago who told him that he could not do that.  He stated that they were 

just doing their job and he is not complaining about what they did.  He is just saying that there is some 

confusion and I would like to know if this question could be answered.  Councilman Henke stated that 

Assistant Chief Milanese is in the back and maybe he could answer.  Assistant Chief Dan Milanese, 

Elkhart Police Department stated that he has not read the ordinance so he would have to look that up.  

This is actually going to be a legal question and they have reached out the Indiana DNR so he knows 

that conversation has already been had.  From what he understands, it was a very confusing conversation 

just because of the way the laws are written.  That is something that they and their statutes do not 

typically deal with so that is going to be a DNR question and probably ultimately something for city 

legal to look at when it comes to an ordinance.  Mayor Roberson stated that he spoke with Mr. Runner 

earlier and is going to make sure that he is in contact with Jeff Zavatsky and Corinne Straight who 

recently put together a geese mitigation plan and that plan has been approved the DNR.  Dennis Runner 

went on to say that it is safer for the animals to be away from people and it is safer for the people.  Jeff 

Zavatsky, Elkhart Environmental Center stated that he spoke with Mr. Runner as well.  He stated 

that Mr. Runner is correct, there is an old ordinance that they found from 1980 going on the advice of 

the DNR.  He spoke with Corinne as well and they are going to have to do an amendment to this 

ordinance.  The ordinance is all-inclusive and includes all birds and does not deal with invasive species.   

 Dianna Graham, resident of the City of Elkhart, stated that this might be a little off of 

whatever but she has already asked the mayor and he stated that he does not have the authority to do it, 

so, she is here asking the council.  Her husband Willie Joe Graham’s life was taken at Elkhart General 

Hospital for no apparent reason.  He went to the hospital because he dropped an oxygen tank.  They 



   

 

10 

 

were told at the hospital that her husband never lost his pulse, he did not have COVID, his vitals were 

good, his blood sugar was fine, and he would be going home.  After a few minutes, her granddaughter 

got scared and called 911.  She stated she has talked to the fire chief.  She went on to say that, she told 

them not to take her husband out of her home.  She was walking around trying to get herself together 

and she stated that they more or less kidnapped him to her.  When her son got there, they said that there 

was nothing wrong with dad so her son went outside to tell everyone that dad was okay.  Instead of 

taking her to her husband, as they should have they had her wait and the doctor came in and wanted her 

to sign “Do Not Resuscitate” papers for her husband as he did not want to send her husband to the third 

floor.  She was confused on how you go from being fine and going home to not going to the third floor.  

She went on to say that, the room got smoky or misty and when she came to herself, she was in the room 

by herself.  The doctor and the chaplain were no longer there.  It took eight (8) hours before she got to 

see her husband.  She called a lawyer and she was told to contact the police department and call her back 

with a case number.  The police refused to take a report or give her a case number so she went to the 

sheriff’s department and they told her to go to the mayor.  They told her that the mayor has the authority 

to tell the police to take the report.  Once she talked to the mayor, he told her he did not have the 

authority to do that.  The mayor told her has a lawyer for her to talk too. The lawyer that she talked to is 

the lawyer for the City of Elkhart.  She is not sure who, but the hospital told her that someone from the 

mayor’s office had come out to the hospital and that everything she told him on the phone is now in her 

husband’s records.  They have falsified her husband’s records and they are no longer true.  She talked to 

a woman by the name of Cathy Bontrager and everything that they talked about is also now in her 

husband’s new medical records which are lies.  She was never at his bedside nor did she ever give them 

permission to do anything.  Captain or whatever Shawn is back there, their medical records of coming to 

her house are a blatant lie also.  She tried to talk to him about it but nothing was said and nothing was 

done.  They sent someone out to talk to her about grief.  They were so concerned but all she wanted to 

do was steal her husband’s medical records to see the discrepancies.  She looked at the discrepancies and 

wrote up lies about that.  She obtained his medical records 7,000 some pages, his name, age and address 

is correct but most of the other stuff is just lies about that date and her husband dying.  She went back to 

the medical records department and said that she did not want these 7,000 pages she wanted the original 

pages that you gave me.  Jennifer looked at her computer and said let me see what I gave you the first 

time, so you know it two (2) different things on here.  Someone had called security and the man told her 

not to be mad at these ladies they can only give you what the hospital has told them to give you.  She 

then went and talked to Carl Risk and said to him that she just wanted her husband’s medical records.  

She asked for him to have them give her his medical records and he said he would not do that.  He did 

not give her the medical records and she knows that is against the law.  Dr. James Shoemaker Jr. who 

was the attending physician that literally abused and tortured her husband’s body for eight (8) hours.  

They went out there before breakfast and they did not put him in a room until about 7:30 at night.  They 

said he was in a room within two (2) hours and that was a blatant lie.  They gave him Fentanyl for no 

reason.  The nurse that she talked to said you do not go from no medication up to Fentanyl because there 

are other medications to go through before you get to Fentanyl.  Then a hateful lawyer to her called and 

asked her a lot of questions and said that whatever they gave him caused him to have a grand mal 

seizure.  She was asked if there was anything wrong with her husband’s neck and she said no.  Then she 

was asked if there was anything wrong with her husband’s head, again she said no.  Then she was asked 

about his leg and that is where the nurse told her they drew the bone marrow.  You do not do that to a 

man who is okay and going home.  You do not die because you dropped an oxygen tank.  So what does 

this have to do with you?  She is asking that you as the council like the woman in Michigan asked her 

council and like she asked the mayor to please do an independent investigation.  You cannot bring 



   

 

11 

 

Willie Jo Graham back because there is no other man like her husband.  They were together 55 years 

and married for 52 of those years.  The reason she is talking to the council is that she cannot get help 

from anybody.  She went to legal aid but they cannot help her and she was told that they could not give 

her any legal advice.  She stated that she called her councilman and now he does not even take her calls 

anymore and she has been to the mayor’s office so many time with this that he no longer comes out of 

his office when she is there.  She has been over to see Shawn so many times that it is a sin.  Nobody will 

help and nobody in this room can do anything to bring Willie Joe Graham back.   

 Lauren Seaollo, resident of the City of Elkhart, stated that she has noticed when residents are 

told not to park on the street because the street sweeper is coming through, the street sweeper never 

comes through but code enforcement does.  There have been a lot of people that have been ticketed.  She 

is not one of them anymore as she has alley access.  However, her mom recently parked on the street, 

they were both home that day as she has the privilege of working from home and can confirm that the 

street sweeper never came down the street.  She would just like the city to investigate if parking 

enforcement was enforced on a day that the street sweeper never came down.  They do have small signs 

that are not very visible and the residents always complain about it.   

 

 

SCHEDULING OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

  Councilman Mishler stated that there is a committee meeting that needs to be scheduled 

regarding Proposed Ordinance 22-O-42, which is in regards to establishing various fees and parking 

regulations for electric charges in the city.  The committee is Councilwoman Baughman, Councilman 

Curry and himself.  Please stay after for a minute so that we can set up that committee meeting. 

 

 

ACCEPTANCE OF COMMUNICATIONS 
  Minutes of September 2, 2022 – Board of Aviation Commissioners 

  Minutes of October 11, 2022 – Board of Public Safety 

  Minutes of October 4, 2022 – Board of Public Works 

  Minutes of October 18, 2022 – Board of Public Works 

  Minutes of June 9, 2022 – Board of Zoning Appeals 

  Minutes of July 14, 2022 – Board of Zoning Appeals 

  Minute of September 8, 2022 – Board of Zoning Appeals 

  Minutes of September 14, 2022 – Lerner Theatre Board 

 

 Motion by Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilman Mishler, moved to accept 

communications, which motion carried, by voice vote, and the communications were accepted. 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

 Motion by Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilman Mishler, moved for adjournment, which 

motion carried unanimously, by voice vote, and the meeting was adjourned. 

 

 

 

 



   

 

12 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk    Arvis Dawson  

       President of the Elkhart City Council 




























































































































































































































































































	AGENDA for December 5, 2022 City Council Meeting
	Minutes of October 17, 2022 Council Meeting
	Minutes of November 7, 2022 Council Meeting
	Proposed Resolution 22-R-53
	Proposed Resolution 22-R-54
	Proposed Resolution 22-R-55
	Minutes of January 11, 2022 - Aurora Capital Development Corporation
	Minutes of February 8, 2022 - Aurora Capital Development Corporation
	Minutes of March 8, 2022 - Aurora Capital Development Corporation
	Minutes of April 12, 2022 - Aurora Capital Development Corporation
	Minutes of May 10, 2022 - Aurora Capital Development Corporation
	Minutes of August 9, 2022 - Aurora Capital Development Corporation
	Minutes of September 13, 2022 - Aurora Capital Development Corporation
	Minutes of October 11, 2022 - Aurora Capital Development Corporation
	Minutes of August 11, 2022 - Board of Zoning Appeals
	Minutes of October 13, 2022 - Board of Zoning Appeals
	Minutes of August 16, 2022 - Park Board
	Minutes of August 30, 2022 - Park Board
	Minutes of September 20, 2022 - Park Board
	Minutes of October 4, 2022 - Park Board
	Minutes of October 18, 2022 - Park Board
	Minutes of November 1, 2022 - Park Board
	Minutes of September 6, 2022 - Plan Commission
	Minutes of January 11, 2022 - Redevelopment Commission
	Minutes of February 8, 2022 - Redevelopment Commission
	Minutes of March 8, 2022 - Redevelopment Commission
	Minutes of April 12, 2022 - Redevelopment Commission
	Minutes of May 10, 2022 - Redevelopment Commission
	Minutes of June 14, 2022 - Redevelopment Commission
	Minutes of July 12, 2022 - Redevelopment Commission
	Minutes of August 9, 2022 - Redevelopment Commission
	Minutes of September 13, 2022 - Redevelopment Commission
	Minutes of October 11, 2022 - Redevelopment Commission
	Minutes of April 21, 2022 - Stormwater Board
	Minutes of June 16, 2022 - Stormwater Board
	Minutes of August 18, 2022 - Stormwater Board

